IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 93-9065
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

ver sus

CLEMENTE TORREZ,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Northern District of Texas

(Decenber 1, 1994)
Before SMTH, EM LIO M GARZA, and PARKER, Circuit Judges.

ROBERT M PARKER, Circuit Judge:

The sole issue before the court on this appeal is whether
the district court commtted plain error by failing to consider
whet her, under Section 5Gl1.3 of the United States Sentencing
Quidelines (U S.S.G), Torrez' sentence for the instant offense
shoul d be served concurrent to an undi scharged state sentence.

We find no plain error, and therefore AFFIRM

| . FACTS
Cl enmente Torrez and seven others were naned in a thirty-

ei ght count indictnent for conspiring to nmake fal se clains



agai nst the governnent. The indictnent charged Torrez with one
count of conspiring to defraud the Internal Revenue Service (IRS)
by filing fraudulent clains for inconme tax refunds in violation
of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 286, and nine additional counts of nmaking false

cl ai ns agai nst the governnent in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 2 and
287.

At the tine of his arraignnent in federal court, Torrez was
serving an undi scharged term of inprisonnent in the custody of
the Texas Departnent of Corrections. In 1991, Torrez was
convicted in two cases of possession of |arge quantities of
mar i huana for which he received concurrent probated sentences of
ten years. On May 24, 1993, Torrez's probation was revoked and
the ten year sentences were reduced to concurrent sentences of
Six years. In addition, Torrez was convicted of driving while
i ntoxi cated and i ndecency with a child for which he received two
nmore concurrent six-year sentences. Torrez appeared in federal
court on a wit of habeas corpus issued by the U S. D strict
Court for the Northern District of Texas. During the pendency of
the federal proceedings, Torrez was in the custody of the U S
Mar shal

Pursuant to a plea agreenent with the Governnent, Torrez
entered a guilty plea to the conspiracy count and the Governnent
di sm ssed the remai ning charges. The district court sentenced
Torrez to 60 nonths in prison. The court also sentenced Torrez

to three years of supervised rel ease, ordered Torrez to nake



restitution in the amobunt of $10, 000, and inmposed a $50 speci al
assessnent .

The defendant, through counsel, submtted objections to the
application of certain provisions of the sentencing guidelines as
proposed by the presentence investigation report (PSR). However,
t he defendant did not object to the district court's failure to
consi der whether the sentence it inposed would be served
concurrent with or consecutive to the undischarged term of
i nprisonment. There was no suggestion in the PSR and no argunent
at sentencing that the sentence should be inposed concurrently
under Section 5GL.3. Thus, the judgnent entered by the district
court did not address this aspect of the sentence inposed. Under
t hese circunstances, the sentence is deened to be inposed
consecutively to the state sentences. See 18 U . S.C. § 3184.

Torrez tinely filed a notice of appeal.

1. DI SCUSSI ON

Torrez contends that the district court erred by failing to
consi der whether his federal sentence should have been inposed
consecutively, or concurrently, to an undi scharged term of
i nprisonment he received in state court when his parole was
revoked. Torrez did not object to the district court's failure
to apply 8 5GL.3, either in the Presentence Report (PSR) or at
sentencing. Parties are required to challenge errors in the
district court. When a defendant in a crimnal case has

forfeited an error by failing to object, this Court wll renedy



the error only in the nost exceptional case. United States v.
Rodri guez, 15 F.3d 408, 414 (5th Cr. 1994). The Suprene Court
has directed the courts of appeal to determ ne whether a case is
exceptional by using a two-part analysis. United States v.
Oano, __ US __ , 113 S . 1770, 1777-79, 123 L. Ed. 2d 508
(1993).

First, an appellant who raises an issue for the first tine
on appeal has the burden to show that there is actually an error,
that it is plain ("clear" or "obvious"), and that it affects
substantial rights. dano, 113 S. C. at 1777-78; Rodriguez, 15
F.3d at 414-15; Fep. R CRM P. 52(b). This Court |acks the
authority to relieve an appellant of this burden. d ano, 113 S
. at 1781.

Second, the Suprene Court has directed that, even when the
appel lant carries his burden, "Rule 52(b) is perm ssive, not
mandatory. "If the forfeited error is "plain' and "affect][s]
substantial rights,' the Court of Appeals has authority to order
correction, but is not required to do so." Oano, 113 S. C. at
1778 (quoting FED. R CRIM P. 52(b)). As the Court stated in
a ano:

the standard that should guide the exercise of [this]

remedi al discretion under Rule 52(b) was articulated in

United States v. Atkinson, [297 U S. 157] (1936). The

Court of Appeals should correct a plain forfeited error

af fecting substantial rights if the error "seriously

affect[s] the fairness, integrity or public reputation

of judicial proceedings."”

dano, 113 S. C. at 1779 (quoting Atkinson, 297 U S. at 160).



Cui deline section 5GL. 3(c) provides that, in any case ot her
t han t hose covered under subsections (a) and (b),! "the sentence
for the instant offense shall be inposed to run consecutively to
the prior undischarged termof inprisonment to the extent
necessary to achi eve a reasonabl e i ncrenental punishnent for the
instant offense." U S. S .G 8§ 5GL. 3(c) (policy statenent).

The comentary to section 5GL. 3, application note 3,
provi des guidance for the district court in applying subsection
(c):

I n sone circunstances, such increnental punishnment can be

achi eved by the inposition of a sentence that is concurrent

wth the remai nder of the unexpired termof inprisonnent.

I n such cases, a consecutive sentence is not required. To

the extent practicable, the court should consider a

reasonabl e increnental penalty to be a sentence for the

instant offense that results in a conbined sentence of

i nprisonment that approximates the total punishnment that

woul d have been inposed under 85Gl.2 (Sentencing on Multiple

Counts of Conviction) had all of the offenses been federal

of fenses for which sentences were being i nposed at the sane

tine.
The record does not reflect that the district court considered
this provision or the nethodol ogy suggested by the commentary,
and Torrez argues that the district court's failure to address
the appropriate considerations constitutes plain error under the

standard enunciated by this Court in Rodriguez.

1. Subsection (a) applies where the defendant comm tted
the instant offense while serving an undi scharged term of
i npri sonment and subsection (b) applies where the conduct
resulting in the undi scharged term of inprisonnent has been taken
into account under the rel evant conduct provision in determning
the offense level for the instant offense. Neither applied in
t he present case.



The district court's failure to consider or apply §8 5GL. 3
was an error under the O ano standard. As defined in O ano:
“"[Dleviation froma legal rule is “error' unless the rule has
been waived." dano, 113 S. . at 1777. In United States v.
MIler, 903 F.2d 341, 347 (5th Gr. 1990), this Court held that
18 U.S.C. 8§ 3584(a) requires the district court to consider the
gui del i nes when determ ni ng whether to i npose consecutive or
concurrent sentences. See also United States v. Parks, 924 F.2d
68, 72 (5th Cr. 1991) ("Congress, however, does require that
district courts consider the CGuidelines and policy statenents
i ssued by the Sentenci ng Comm ssi on when consi deri ng whet her
Cui del i ne sentences should run concurrently or consecutively.").

Therefore, the district court's failure to consider the
gui deline rul es regardi ng concurrent and consecutive sentences
was an error. The error was al so clear and obvious: Torrez'
state convictions and sentences were part of the record and the
PSR, clearly raising questions concerning the inposition of
concurrent or consecutive sentences.

“"Normal |y, although perhaps not in every case, the defendant
must rmake a specific show ng of prejudice to satisfy the
“affecting substantial rights' prong of Rule 52(b)." dano, 113
S. . at 1778. The defendant attenpts to show prejudice in this
case by conputing the "approxi mate total punishnent” he woul d
have received had all his offenses been federal offenses for
whi ch he was sentenced at the sane tinme, as described in the

comentary to section 5GIL. 3.



However, the defendant's argunent is not persuasive.
Section 5GL.3 (c) expressly contenplates the inposition of
consecutive sentences: "the sentence for the instant offense
shal | be inposed to run consecutively . . . to the extent
necessary to achi eve a reasonabl e i ncrenental punishnent for the
instant offense. This |language clearly allows the district court
the discretion to determne the "increnental punishnment”
appropri ate.

In addition, the nethodol ogy proposed by note 3 is
perm ssive only. The specific fornula cited by the defendant is
conspi cuously preceded by the | anguage "[t]o the extent

practicable, the court should consider Thi s | anguage
denotes nerely one possible manner of determ ning the appropriate
increnmental penalty. Thus, even if the district court had
considered this provision, it would have been free to decline to
foll ow t he suggested net hodol ogy. See United States v. Rednan,
35 F.3d 437 (9th CGr. 1994). In other words, the district court
woul d not have violated this provision if it had considered it
and then determ ned that inposing the sentence consecutively
provi ded the appropriate increnental punishnent.

It is also worth noting that inposing a consecutive sentence
under section 5GL.3(c) in the present case woul d have been
consistent with the policy expressed in section 7Bl1.3, which

applies when a defendant's term of federal probation or

supervi sed release is revoked. See United States v. d asener,



981 F.2d 973 (8th G r. 1992). Subsection (f) of that policy
st atenent provides that

[a]ny term of inprisonnment inposed upon the revocation of

probation or supervised release shall be ordered to be

served consecutively to any sentence of inprisonnent that
the defendant is serving, whether or not the sentence of

i nprisonnment being served resulted fromthe conduct that is

the basis of the revocation of probation or supervised

rel ease.

Al t hough section 7B1.3 is not applicable, it illustrates that the
i nposition of a consecutive sentence under 5GL.3 woul d have been
entirely appropriate in the present case.?

Considering that the defendant's nmultiple state sentences
were all inposed to run concurrently, and that the cal cul ation
called for under application note 3 would result in no
significant "increnental penalty" for the defendant, we think it
entirely likely that the district court would inpose consecutive
sentences expressly upon remand. Under these circunstances, we

hold that the defendant has not made a sufficient show ng of

prejudice. Since we find that the defendant has not net this

2. The governnent points to application note 4 under
section 5GL. 3, which nmandates a consecutive sentence in cases
where, as here, "the defendant was on federal or state probation,
parol e, or supervised release at the tine of the instant offense,
and has had such probation, parole, or supervised rel ease
revoked." U S. S.G 8§ 5GL.3, app. note 4.

We cannot accept the governnent's contention that this
provision requires that the instant sentence be inposed
consecutively. Although the facts of the instant case fit
precisely into the scenario contenpl ated by application note 4,
Torrez was sentenced on Cctober 29, 1993. Thus, the Novenber
1992 edition of the guidelines was in effect at the tine. See
United States v. CGonzales, 988 F.2d 16, 18 (5th Cr.), cert.
denied, 114 S. . 170 (1993); see also U S.S.G § 1B1.11(a).
Application note 4 was added to the guidelines effective Novenber
1, 1993, and therefore could not have been applied at the tine
Torrez was sentenced.



burden, we do not address whether the error in the present case
is the type that seriously affects the "fairness, integrity or

public reputation of judicial proceedings."

I11. CONCLUSI ON
For the reasons stated above, the sentence inposed by the

district court is AFFl RVED



